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1
2 EE cocoon the record.
3 Itis 2:12 p.m. Eastern on February 24, 2022. This is the deposition of Mr. James
4 DeGraffenreid, conducted by the House Select Committee to Investigate the January 6th
5 Attack on the United States Capitol, pursuant to House Resolution 503.
6 At this time, 1d ike to ask Mr. DeGraffenreid to please state his full name and to
7 spell his last name for the record.
s The Witness. ~ My full name is James Walter DeGraffenreid,
9 DeGratfenreid

10 I honkvou Mr. DeGraffenreid. This will be a staff-led interview.

11 tynameisJENN, +n rm an investigative counsel or the Select Commit.
12 1amjoined here todayby [J ho s senior investigative Counsel for the select

13 Committee, and also serves as of counsel to the Vice Char, Representative Liz Cheney.
I —

15 Members of the Select Committee may be joining us and leavingduring the course
16 of ourdiscussion, and f any of them so choose they, of course,mayask questions as wel,
17 Pll do my best to announce for the record whenever they join, but right now | don't
18 believe that any of them are here with us
1 Atthis time, would Mr. DeGraffenreid's counsel plese sate their names for the
20 record.
un Mr. Kelesis, This is George Kelesis. am Mr. DeGraffenreids personal counsel,
2 Mr. Hardy. This is Brian Hardy with the law firm of Marquis Aurbach on behalf of
23 Mr.DeGraffenreid.
M [ae
2 So at ths time, Id like to ask the court reporter to please administer the oath to
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1 Mr. DeGraffenreid.

2 The Reporter. Do you solemnly declare and affirm under the penalty of perjury

3 that the testimony you are about to give will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing

4 butthetruth?

5 The Witness. | do.

6 oe

7 Before we begin, I'd like to cover a few ground rules. So, as you saw, Mr.

8 DeGraffenreid, there is an official reporter whoistranscribing the record of this.

9 interview.

10 You and your attorneys will have an opportunity to review the transcript and

11 suggestany corrections before its finalized. And, as I'm sure you can also tell, this is

12 being videotaped and audio recorded, but | will note that the court reporter's transcript is

13 theofficial record of the proceeding.

1a Because this isbeing transcribed, we ask that you wait until each question is

15 completed before you begin your response and, likewise, we will try and wait until your

16 responses are completed before we ask our next question. That just helps us ensure

17 that the transcript of the record is as complete and accurate as possible.

18 The stenographer cannot record nonverbal responses, such as shaking your head

19 or saying uh-huh, so it's important that you answer each question with an audible verbal

20 response, yes, no, | don't know.

21 | want to make sure that you understand that you're appearing pursuant to a

22 subpoena from the Select Committee dated January 28, 2022, which is in the materials

23 that have been provided to your counsel, and will be included in the record.

2 As you know, you are under oath, meaning that any knowing false statement that

25 you make today can constitute perjury as well as a violation of 18 United States Code
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1 1001. Soit'simportant thatyoutell the truthatall times.

2 It's, of course, important that you understand our questions and are able to

3 answerthem to the best of your ability. So, to that end, please don't hesitate to ask us

4 torepeata question if it's not clear, or if you don't understand.

5 Similarly, if you don't know the answer to a question, you can say you don't know

6 orthat you don't recall, but keep in mind that you're under oath and you have to be

7 truthful. Sof you do recall the answer to a question, you must say so.

5 If you need to consult with your counsel at any time during the interview, that is

9 certainly no problem. We can disable the camera and place the audio on mute so that

10 you can converse with your counsel as needed. So please just let us know if that's ever

11 necessary,

2 And if you need abreak for any other reason during the interview, please let us

13 know. I'lalso try and make sure that we take regular short breaks during the course of

14 our conversation.

15 Do you have any questions for us before we begin?

16 The Witness. | do not

FY Ioo

1 o
19 Q Sol will begin by directing your attention to exhibit 40, which we will show

20 youon the screen.

2 wr. Hardy. [Jan we just make sure that on the record today, that we're

22 clear, similar to what we did before, that you understand that we're seeking to preserve

23 the attorney-client privilege and any questions you ask are not intended to seek

24 attomey-client information?

2s Ioh
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1 Mr. Hardy. Perfect. Then we're good and we can proceed forward.

2 SR vib. Thankyou, Brian.

: oI
4 Q Allright. So on the screen | hope you can see, Mr. DeGraffenreid, this is a

5 letter from the chairman, Benny Thompson, dated January 28, 2022, addressed to you.

. 1s thisa copy ofthe subpoena that yo received from the select committee, as far
7 asyoucantel?
8 A Asfaras|can tell from what is shown, yes, it is.

9 Q And do you understand that you are appearing here today pursuant to the

10 subpoena with your name, Mr. James DeGraffenreid, on it?

u A Yesido
12 Q Part of the subpoena required you to produce documents and information,

13 including electronically stored information. Do you understand that?

1 A Idounderstandthat.
15 Q And did you search for records that are responsive to the subpoena

16 sheduie?
v A Yes ldd.
18 Q Have you producedto the select committee all the documents and

15 communications in your possession custody, orcontroltht are responsive to the
20 requests inthe subpoena?
2 A Tothe best of my knowledge, | have, yes.

2 Q  Illaska few questions just to get a sense of that. But did you search your

23 personal devices for responsive information, including your laptop, phone, or any other

24 devices?

2s A Yes ldd.
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1 Q Did you use any secured messaging applications on any of your personal

2 devices, and by that,|mean applications like Signal, Telegram or WhatsApp -- and, if so,
3 have you searched for and produced any responsive materials from those applications?

a A Idid use those applications, and | believe you saw from what was submitted

that! did submit that responsive information.

s Q Did you have any devicesor email accounts that you used in an official

7 capacity, for example, from the Nevada GOP and, if so, have you searched for and

8 produced any responsive materials?

9 A Can you please repeat that question?

10 Q Sure. Sodid you have any devices or email accounts that you used in an

11 official capacity,for example, a Nevada GOP email account, or a laptop that was provided

12 toyou by the Nevada GOP, and, if so, did you search those devices and accounts for

13 responsive information?

1a A I had no devices provided to me by the Nevada GOP. | do have an email

15 account, and| did search that account.

16 Q Did you keep any handwritten or electronic notes and, if so, did you search

17 those for responsive materials?

1 A Idon't recall any handwritten notes. ~ Anything that | would have had, | did

19 search.

2 Q Did you have any involvement in tweets that are put out by the Nevada GOP

21 Twitter account?

2 A On occasion, before tweets go out, they are circulated to the leadership of

23 the party to review.

2 Q And do youtypically provide input on those tweets whenever you see them?

2 A Occasionally.
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1 Q Understood. Did you coordinate with any personother than your
2 attorneys, or your attorneys’ sort of administrative staff in responding to the document

3 requests in the subpoena?
a A ldidnot.
5 Q Allright. So, to start, Mr. DeGraffenreid, I'd appreciate if you could briefly

6 summarize your professional background,starting with any schooling and thenleading up
7 totoday.

8 A Okay. |graduated high school from Mayfair High School in Lakewood,

9 California in 1980. | attended some college, did not obtain a degree from any college.

10 For the last 20 years | have been a firefighter/EMT for Mono County Fire Rescue. | also

11 owna smal business, an insurance agency in Minden, Nevada, with my wife. And then |
12 have been involved in the Nevada GOP since approximately 2008.

13 Q Do you have an official role in the Nevada GOP?

1 A 1am currently the Republican National Committeeman for the State of
15 Nevada.

16 Q And have you held that role since 2008, or has your title or your capacity

17 changed over the years?
18 A My capacity has changed. | wasoriginally just a memberof the party. |

19 have been the Republican National Committeeman since 2020.

20 Q Understood. Did you have any formal role ineither the 2016 or 2020

2 Trump Presidential campaigns and, if so, please describe what those formal

2 responsibilities were?
23 A Ididn't have any formal responsibilities relative to the campaign itself.

24 During the 2016 campaign, | was the vice chairman of the State party. In that role, our

25 jobisto identify voters, register voters, turn them out to vote, basically support the
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1 campaignsof all Republican candidates in the State. And so, | did those things in

2 connection with my role as vice chairman of the party.

3 Q Allright. Just to make sure that | understand clearly,so you've held a role

4 as National Committeeman and you've also held a role as vice chair of the State party at

5 some pointin time?

6 A Thatis correct. Prior to that, Secretary of the party, if it's relevant.

7 Q Thankyou. What were your sort of informal responsibilities on either of

8 those campaigns in your capacity as vice chair of the State GOP?

9 A There was probably nothing specific to the Trump campaign. Again, my

10 role was to support all Republican candidates in the State. And so, the vice chairman's

11 roles primarily organizational, taking care of planning State party meetings and

12 conventionsand that sort of thing. As | said, working working to identify and turn out

13 voters for the election.

14 Q Sold ike to shift over to the topic of the 2020 Presidential election. In,

15 let's say, after the Presidential election in 2020, so starting on November 3rd and in the

16 weeks thereafter, Mr. DeGraffenreid, did you participate in any conversations with any.

17 individuals from the Trump campaign, the Trump White House, or the RNC about their

18 response to the Presidential election results?

19 A Upon advice of counsel, | am asserting my rights underArticle |, Section 8 of

20 the Nevada Constitution and the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

2 The United States Supreme Court has long held that constitutional protections

22 against self-incrimination were designed to protect the innocent as well as the guilty.

23 The Supreme Court has also recognized that one of the basic functions of the privilege is

24 toprotect innocent men, and has firmly rejected the view that any adverse assumptions

25 orimplications of guilt should be drawn about anyone who exercises these cherished
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1 constitutional rights.

2 Accordingly, upon advice of counsel, | expressly decline to answer your question.

3 Q Thankyou, Mr. DeGraffenreid. And, of course, you are entitled to assert

4 your constitutional privileges under the Fifth Amendment.

5 We have communicated this previously to your counsel, but just so that you and |

6 are clearon how we'll proceed from here, we will continue toaskyou questions. And at

7 any point when you wish to assert your Fifth Amendment privileges, you may do so in

8 response toa question.

° Please do not feel as if you have to recite the entirety of what you just read each

10 time. Ifthere is some shorthand that you'd lie to refer to any time that you'd like to

11 assert Fifth Amendment privilege, that's perfectly allright.

2 A lunderstand.

13 Q Thankyou. So, with that, | will go ahead and move to thetopic of Trump

1a Presidential electors in the 2020 Presidential election.

15 Mr. DeGraffenreid, can you describe your understanding of the concept of

16 alternate electors as it relates to the 2020 Presidential election?

1” A As stated previously, | expressly decline to answer your question under the

18 rights previously asserted.

19 Q Were you aware of a plan to convene alternate electors in Michigan,

20 Pennsylvania, Wisconsin, New Mexico, Georgia, Nevada or Arizona to cast electoral votes

21 forPresident Trump and Vice President Pence?

2 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the previous privilege.

23 Q When did you first become awareof a plan related to alternate electors in

24 the 2020 election, and who first told you about it?

2 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the previous privilege.



1

1 Q In your understanding, why was it necessary for alternate electors to

2 convene in these States?

3 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

4 Q Did you participate in a meeting of alternate electors that took place in

5 Carson City, Nevada, on December 14, 2020, to cast electoral ballots for President Trump

6 and Vice President Pence?

7 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

8 Q To your knowledge, who was involved in coordinating that ceremony from

9 either the Trump campaign, Trump legal team, Trump White House, or RNC?

10 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

1 Q 1am going to ask you about your communications with a number of

12 individualsregardingplans to convene analternate setofelectors. ~Andfor yoursake so

13 you don't have to assert the privilege each time that | say a name, | will simply read the

14 list of names to you and you can respond as you see fit.

15 So my question is, did you have any communications with any of the following

16 Trump campaign officials regarding plans to convene an alternate set of electors for

17 Nevada: Rudy Giuliani, Jenna Ellis, Matt Morgan, Justin Clark, Nick Trainer, Kenneth

18 Chesebro, James Troupis, John Eastman, Bors Epshteyn, Bernard Kerik, Mike Roman or

19 Mike Brown?

0 A Under advice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

2 Q Did you have any communications with any of thefollowing Trump White

22 House officials regarding plans to convene an alternate set of electors: President

23 Trump, Mark Meadows, or any other member of the administration?

2 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Were you aware of any coordinationofalternate elector ceremonies across
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1 multiple States? And when | say multiple States during the course of today's deposition,

2 I mean Michigan, Pennsylvania, Wisconsin, New Mexico, Georgia, Nevada or Arizona.

3 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

4 Q Mr. DeGraffenreid, Id lie to direct your attention to the document in

5 exhibit. Thisisa document ending with Bates 591, and it appears to be a text message

6 conversation dated October 30, 2020, between you and Mr. Shawn Meehan.

7 Do you recognize this conversation?

8 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

9 Q In this exchange at 4:30 p.m, it looks like Mr. Meehan wrote the following,

10 quote: "Been reading more on Electoral College. If things get really sorted up, | could

11 see Sisolak submitting one slate and Barbara having to sendour slate. As she dislikes

12 controversial situations, | wonder how that plays out."

13 Then you responded, quote: "Elder might do a ot of things, but sending a slate

14 of Republican electors without them being clearly the winners of the popular vote is not

15 oneof them."

16 Was this thefirst time that you had heard someone discuss sending competing

17 slates of electors in the event that President Trump didn't win the election in Nevada?

18 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

19 Q  Itappears tome that this exchange took place before Election Day on

20 November 3rd. Why was this strategy the topic of discussion before you knew whether

21 President Trump had won Nevada or not?

2 A Under advice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

23 Q Sonex, Il direct your attention to exhibit 6. This is a document ending in

24 Batess4a. Thisappearsto be an exchange between you and Mr. Meehan dated

25 November 29, 2020
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1 And Mr. Meehan wrote, quote: "And we have a template forwhen we complete

2 oursand send itn ourselves when Sisolak refuses," unquote, referring to a certificate of

3 ascertainment, as discussed in your prior text message.

a At this time, November 29th, was there a plan in place to prepare an alternate

5 certificate of ascertainment for President Trump's Nevada electors?

s A Onthe advice of counsel | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q Around this time, were you aware of any discussions involving the Trump

8 administration, Trump campaign, or RNC related to this scenario?

9 A Under advice of counsel | assert the prior privilege.

10 Q We will discuss this in more detail shortly, but sit correct that you and the

11 other Trump electors in Nevada had fied a lawsuit in State Court related to the 2020

12 Presidential election results?

13 A Under advice of counsel, assert the prior privilege.

1 Q Did you participate in any calls or meetings with anyone from the Trump

15 administration, Trump campaign, or RNC related to that litigation?

16 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q Were you part ofa discussion on December 8, 2020, related toalternate

18 electors?

19 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Did anyone from the Trump administration, Trump campaign, or RNC

21 participate in that discussion?

2 A Under advice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

2 Q so next Idlike to turn to exhibit 7, which is a document ending in Bates

24 number634. While we pullit up, | will describe to you that this is a message exchange

25 between you, Mr. Meehan, and Jim Hindle dated December 9, 2020. ~ And you wrote
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1 below this message that's on the screen the following, quote: "And we need to also

2 decideif we're sending in our own ballot. Need to knowwhich Senator and

3 Congressman will make the objection...Cruz and Jordan maybe."

a Scroll down

5 Was there a discussion at this time related to the submission of alternate electoral

6 ballots and, if so, among whom?

7 A Under advice of counsel | assert the prior privilege.

8 Q Was the alternate elector plan contingent in any wayupon the objection of a

9 House Member and a Senator during the certificationon January 6th?

10 A Under advice of counsel assert the prior privilege.

1 Q Andi you could scroll down,JI

2 Later in this exchange, you wrote, quote: “Yes, the elector frustration was

13 clearly communicated last evening. Crystal clearly."

1a What frustration were you referring to in this message?

15 A Under advice of counsel | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q Then below,youwrote the following, quote: "So we have some time to

17 consider and plan."

1 Could you please scroll down,

19 What were the relevant considerations in deciding to move forward with sending

20 alternate electoral ballots?

2 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Next, I'd lke to direct your attention to exhibit 16. This is a Bates ending in

23 631, and believe that itis another version of the message exchange that wewere just

24 discussing.

2 This is dated December9th, and it's between you, Mr. Meehan, and Mr. Hindle,
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1 andinit, you write, quote: "Online with legal right now. ~ Attorneys and campaign have

2 inmind to have the electors meet in Carson City Monday to cast our ballots and transmit

3 tothe Senate."

4 Did you participate in a call on December 9th with members of the campaign to

5 discussthisissue?

6 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q Your message that we just discussed suggests to me that there had not yet

8 beena decision made regarding alternate electors at that time. What changed between

9 thatand this message?

10 A On advice of counsel,| assert the prior privilege.

u Q In your understanding, what was the basis for the campaign's plan for you to

12 castyour ballots?

13 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

1 Q Next, Ill direct your attention to exhibit 8. This is a document with Bates

15 ending in 774, and Il describe to you that it is a December 10, 2020, email exchange from

16 an individual named Kenneth Chesebro to you, Mr. Michael McDonald, Mr. Jesse Law,

17 andit says the following, quote: "Mayor Giuliani and others with the Trump-Pence

18 campaign (including Justin Clark and Nick Trainer) asked me to reach out to you and the.

19 other Nevada electors to run point on the plan to haveall Trump-Pence electors in all six

20 contested States meet and transmittheir votes to Congress on Monday, December 14."

21 Who, if you know, is Kenneth Chesebro?

2 A Under advice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

23 Q What was Mr. Chesebro’s connection to Mr. Giuliani, Mr. Clark, and

24 Mr. Trainer, ifyou know?

2 A Under advice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.
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1 Q Ifyou know, how were Mr. Giuliani, Mr. Clark, and Mr. Trainer involved in

2 the efforts relating to alternate electors?

3 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

4 Q Do you know why Mr. Chesebro was reaching out to you, Mr. McDonald, and

5 Mr.Law, regarding this issue?

6 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

7 Q In his email, Mr. Chesebro wrote that he was contacting you and the other

8 Nevada electors, quote, "to run point on the plan to have all Trump-Pence electors in all

9 sixcontested States meet."

10 That suggests to me that you were already somewhat familiarwith this idea. Is

1 thataccurate?

2 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

13 Q Other than the communications we've already discussed, what other

14 conversations or communications did you have regarding the alternate electors plan with

15 any member of the RNC Trump campaign or Trump administration?

16 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q Did you ever have any direct contact with Mr. Giuliani, Mr. Clark, or

18 Mr. Trainer, related to alternate electors?

19 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

0 Q  Atthe end of his email, Mr. Chesebro contains - or includes, rather, a draft

21 press release that was slated for release as part of Wisconsin litigation. Its at the end of

22 the email and t's titled "ProposedJim Troupis Statement on Electors’ Meeting."

23 Do you know who Jim Troupis is?

2 A Underadvice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q The last paragraph of that release contains the following, quote: “Given
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1 that the results in Wisconsin are stil in doubt, with legal arguments that have yet to be

2 decided..so, too, the Republican electors shouldmeet thisyear on December 14 as we

3 awaita final resolution in Wisconsin."

4 What did you understand this language in the press release to mean?

5 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

6 Q And how did you think that guidance applied to your situation in Nevada?

7 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

8 Q Was it your understanding that this guidance suggested that alternate

9 electors were appropriate because litigation was ongoing in your State?

10 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

u Q And did you understand Mr. Chesebro's guidance here to mean that

12 alternate electors were justified because the results inyour State were, quote, "still in

13 doubt”?

1a A Under advice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

5 Q Alright. So after receiving this email, it looks like you forwarded it on

16 December 10th at 4 p.m. to Mr. Hindle, Mr. Law, and Mr. McDonald,aswell as Jesse

17 Binall,and you wrote, quote: "What do we know about Ken? Is this a legit outreach?"

18 What was your understanding of Mr. Chesebro's relationship to the campaign at

19 thattime?

20 A Under advice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

2 Q Did you ever learn more information about that?

2 A Under advice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

23 Q Mr. Binall then responded to your email and wrote, quote: "Il handle."

2 Withoutdivulging the contents of any privileged communications, are you aware

25 ofanyfurther steps that Mr. Binall took onthis issue?
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1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q  Sonext, let's take a look at exhibit 9 with Bates number ending in 761. This

3 isa December 11th and 12th email exchange that starts with Mr. Chesebro emailinga

4 number of individuals whose email addresses indicate that they were affiliated with

5 either the Trump campaign or the GOP. And then later, it looks like it was forwarded to

6 you on December 12th.

7 And in Mr. Chesebro's original message, he wrote, quote: “As mentioned to

8 Mike Brown (who am now copying on this thread), | as in email communication with

9 Jim DeGraffenreid a couple of days ago, and he was very responsive."

10 Do you know how the recipients on this initial email were involved in coordinating

11 alternate electors, if at all?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

13 Q Mr. Chesebro, inthis email, mentioned communication with you a couple of

14 daysago. Was that communication the email on December 10th or some other

15 communication earlier?

16 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q An individual named JeremyHughes then forwarded that message to

18 Mr. McDonald, you, and Jessica Hanson and wrote, quote: “Sounds like you all

19 connected. Feel like everything is good?"

0 What was yourrelationship with Mr. Hughes?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Had you two been in contact previously about alternate elector issues?

23 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q  Soattached to Mr. Chesebro's initial email are | count seven documents, one

25 of which I'd like to cover right now. That contains Bates number 762 and t's just further
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1 down in the same exhibit.

2 It's a document that is titled "How to Cast Electoral Votes in Nevada." It looks

3 like it contains a number of instructions about meeting, convening the ceremony, et

4 cetera

5 Was this essentially the guide that you followed when planning for the signing

6 ceremony?

7 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

8 Q On the fifth page of this exhibit, there is a section titled "Draft language for

9 NVRepublican Party re: December 14 casting of electoral votes," and it contains the

10 following language in the last paragraph: "Given that the results in Nevada are stil in

11 doubt, with legal arguments that have yet to be decided...s0 too the Republican electors

12 should meet this year on December 14 as we awaita final resolution of Nevada's six

13 electoral votes."

14 Was this consistent with your understanding of the purpose of alternate electors?

15 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q In your understanding, were the election results in Nevada, quote, "still in

17 doubt" and, f so, how?

18 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

19 Q Allright. Related to these documents, Id lie to ask a few questions about

20 the guidance that you received about the legality of the elector ceremony.

2 Did you ever haveanydiscussions related to any legal issues surrounding an

22 alternate elector ceremony? And, again, | remind you that I'm asking you to answer

23 without divulging any attorney-client privileged information.

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q In your understanding, were there any key issues or concerns related to how
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1 the ceremony was supposed to be conducted?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

3 Q Did anyone provide you with any documentation or legal reasoning to

4 supportthisunderstandingof the law?

5 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

s Q  Inany of these discussions, did you discuss Nevada's State laws regarding

7 the appointment of Presidential and Vice Presidential electors?

5 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

° Q Were you aware of any concerns about whether such a ceremony was

10 allowed under State law?

1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Were you aware at that time that Nevada State law requires electors to

13 meetin the presence of the secretary of state?

1a A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

15 Q  Atthe time, were you aware that Nevada State law requires electors to

16 commit to voting for the popular vote winner in the State?

FY A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

18 Q Did you have any discussions or receive any guidance as to how those State

19 laws would affect the alternate elector ceremony, if at all?

1) A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Was it your understanding that it was lawful to proceedwith the alternate

20 electorceremony in spite of these concerns and, if so, why?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Next, Il direct your attention to exhibit 10, which ends in Bates number746.

25 Thisisa memorandum from Mr. Chesebro addressed to Mr. Troupis dated November 18,
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1 2020, although its characterized as a December 10th streamlined revision, and the title is

2 "Regarding the Real Deadline for Settling a State'sElectoral Votes."

3 Did you read this memorandum before the alternateelector ceremony on

4 December 14th?

5 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

6 Q Ili direct you to the second page of this document, which is under the

7 header, quote, "What Must Happen on December 14." And the second paragraph of

8 thatreads: Prudence dictates that the electors in each State who are pledged to Trump

9 and Pence meet and cast their votes on December 14. It may seem odd that the

10 electors pledged to Trump and Pence might meet and cast their votes on December 14.

11 evenif, at that juncture, the Trump-Pence ticket is behind in the vote count, and no

12 certificate of election has been issued in favor of Trump and Pence. However, a fair

13 readingof the Federal statutes suggests that this is a reasonable course of action.”

1a What was your understanding of the guidance provided in this memorandum?

15 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q On the basisofthis guidance, was your understandingthat an alternate

17 elector ceremony was a prudential or reasonable course of action to take?

18 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

19 Q So next, we'll turn to exhibit 11 with Bates number ending in 463. This is

20 another memorandum from Mr. Chesebro to Mr. Troupis dated December 9, 2020, and

21 itstitled "Regarding Statutory Requirements for December 14 Electoral Votes."

2 It contains a section titled "Federal Law" that runs through various statutory

23 requirements for casting electoral votes.

2 As you look through this document, are these instructions consistent with how

25 you prepared for and conducted the alternate elector ceremony in Nevada on December



2

1 1am?

2 A Under advice of counsel assert the prior privilege.

3 Q Did youfollow the guidelines laid out here exactly, or did your circumstances

4 require any Nevada-specifc alterations?

5 A Under advice of counsel, assert the prior privilege.

6 Q So page 4of this document outlines various State law provisions related to

7 Nevada.

8 andi you could scroll down,[JI

9 The first paragraph of the section begins, quote: “Nevada is an extremely

10 problematic State, because it requires the meeting of the electors to be overseen by the

11 secretary of state, who is only supposed to permit electoral votes for the winner of the

12 popular vote in Nevada."

13 What did you understand this to mean?

1a A Under advice of counsel, | assert theprior privilege.

15 Q With respect to the words "extremely problematic,” did you understand that

16 tomean that it would be unlawful or problematic for some other reason?

FY A Under advice of counsel assert theprior privilege.

18 Q The section then continues, arguing that these provisions are designed to

19 thwart the faithless elector and then says, quote, that "They make no sense when applied

20 tothissituation" Then: "Therefore, perhaps arguably the Nevada electors could

21 simply meet and cast theirvotes, without the involvement of the secretary of state."

2 And thenfurther down, it says: "If there were a vote in Congress to take Nevada

23 away from Biden and Harris, presumably along with it would come a vote to overlook this

24 procedural detail"

2 What did you understand this guidance to mean?
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1 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Did you understand this to mean that Nevada State laws did not apply to a

3 meeting of alternate electors?

4 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

5 Q Did you understand this to mean that Nevada State law did apply, but that

6 Congress could choose to overlook it?

7 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

8 Q How did you understand Mr. Chesebro's guidance to apply to the

9 requirement thatelectoral electors votefor thewinner of the popularvote in Nevada, if

10 atall?

u A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Did Mr. Chesebro's analysis in this memo make sense to you?

13 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

1 Q Did you discuss this analysis with anyone else?

15 A Under advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q So going back to page 1, there are a few paragraphs that seem to provide an

17 executive summaryofMr. Chesebro's conclusion, and in the second paragraph he writes,

18 quote: "Most of the electors (with the possible exception of the Nevada electors) will

19 be able to take the essential steps needed to validly cast and transmit their votes."

20 And thenfurther down, he says: "And, they can do so without any involvement

21 bythe governororany other State official (except in Nevada, where the secretary of state

22 isinvolved)."

23 What is your understanding of Mr. Chesebro's conclusion here?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Were you aware of any disagreements about the conclusions that
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1 Mr.Chesebro drew in this memo?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

3 Q Did you or theother electors ever consider trying to convenebeforethe

4 secretary of state to cast your votes?

5 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

6 Q Did you ever consider signing a pledge to the effect that President Trump

7 wasthewinnerofthe popularvote in Nevada?

8 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

9 Q Let's move to exhibit 12. This is a document ending in Bates 786, and it

10 appears to be a December 10th and 11th email exchange that starts from Mr. Chesebro

1 toyou.

2 And in that email, Mr. Chesebro wrote, quote: "I spoke this evening with Mayor

13 Giuliani, who s focused on doing everything possible to ensure that all the Trump-Pence

14 electors vote on December 14."

15 What was Mr. Giuliani's role in coordinating alternate electors, if you know?

16 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

uv Q Ifyou know, what did Mr. Chesebro mean whenhewrote that Mr. Giuliani

18 was, quote, "doing everything possible to ensure that the alternate electors voted"?

19 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

20 Q Later in this message, Mr. Chesebro writes, quote: "You'll note that page 4

21 of the December 9 memo mentions a concern regarding Nevada law, about the role of

22 thesecretaryof state. It may well be that the electoral vote needs to proceed without

23 the participation of the secretary of state, on the view that these technical aspects of

24 State laware unlikely to matter much in the end."

2 What did you understand Mr. Chesebro to mean when he wrote that it may well
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1 be that the electoral vote needs to proceed without the participation of thesecretaryof

2 state?

3 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

a Q Did you understand Mr. Chesebro to be telling you that it was lawful under

5 Nevada State law to convene alternate electors without the secretary of state?

6 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q What did you understand Mr. Chesebro to mean when he wrote that, quote,

8 “these technical aspects of State law are unlikely to matter much in the end"?

9 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

10 Q  Soafter you received this email from Mr. Chesebro, it looks like you

11 forwarded it to Mr. McDonald and Ms. Hanson on December 11th, and you wrote, quote:

12 “Ive connected Jesse Binall and Ken to discuss details, and wanted both of you to have

13 this background info. It explains very clearly the process and the justification for our

14 actions.”

15 Did you understand Mr. Chesebro's guidance to have effectively signed off on

16 moving forwardwith anelectoralvote ceremony?

FY A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

18 Q Other than what we've already discussed, did you receive any other

19 guidance on the legality of the alternate elector ceremony?

1) A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Do you recall any of the Nevada electors expressing any doubts or concerns

22 about the basis for the plan, from a State-low perspective?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Do you recall any of the Nevada electors expressing any other kinds of

25 doubts or concerns about the plan?
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1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Briefly, I'd like to talk through a few questions related to the lawsuit that you

3 andthe other Trump electors filed in Nevada

4 Other than you and your lawyers, was anyone else involved in coordinating that

5 litigation from the Trump administration, Trump campaign, or RNC?

6 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q And briefly, Id just like to cover the timeline of that litigation to make sure

8 that! understand it correctly. Ist correct that you filed the lawsuit in State District

9 Court on November 17,2020?

10 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

1 Q  Isit correct that the District Court dismissed that case on December 4, 20207

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

13 Q sit correct that you then appealed thatrulingtothe Nevada Supreme

14 Court?

15 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q  Isit correct that the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the lower court's ruling

17 onDecember820207

18 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

19 Q After the Nevada State Supreme Court issued its decision, what was your

20 understanding of the state of the litigation?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Do you recall anydiscussions about whether to appeal the Nevada State

23 Supreme Court decision to the U.S. Supreme Court?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q will direct your attention to exhibit 16, which wepreviously discussed.
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1 Thisis Bates number ending in 631, and it's the December 9, 2020, exchange between

2 you, Mr. Meehan, and Mr. Hindle.

3 Andin it, you wrote, quote: "Online with legal right now." ~ And then in the

4 message below, you wrote, quote: "Theyare also looking at ways we might have

5 certiorariat SCOTUS."

s At that time, if you know, and without divulging any privileged communications,

7 what was the campaign's plan in terms of the justifications for filing for certiorari?

5 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

° Q Was filing for certiorari connected to the alternate elector ceremony,if at

0 a

1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Let's turn to exhibit 18. This is a document withBates ending in 778, and

13 this appears to be a December 11, 2020 email exchange tht is a separate thread of the

14 exchange that you had with Mr. Chesebro on December 11th that we discussed in exhibit

5 8

16 And in that separate thread, it appears that Mr. Chesebro wrote to you on

17 December 11th and wrote, quote: "Can you tell me whether all court challenges in

18 Nevada arefinal? I'm wondering if there will be an effort toseek Supreme Court review

19 ofthisdecision."

1) Why was Mr. Chesebro asking aboutthe status of the Nevada State Court

21 litigation, in your understanding?
2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q In your understanding, why did it matterwhether the litigation was still

24 ongoing?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.
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1 Q Was it your understanding that litigation needed to be ongoing inorder for

2 the alternate elector ceremony to be able to proceed?

3 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

4 Q So, after receiving this email from Mr. Chesebro, it looks like you connected

5 him with your lawyer, Mr. Binall, and wrote that you were - that you were forwarding

6 that request for information to him.

7 Again, without divulging any privileged communications, are you aware of any.

8 further conversations between Mr. Binall and Mr. Chesebro regarding the status of the

9 litigation?

10 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

u Q Did theplans that you had about appealingthe Nevada Supreme Court

12 ruling change after you put Mr. Binallin touch with Mr. Chesebro?

13 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.
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4 Q Were youa partof a discussion on December 12, 2020, related to Nevada

$ State court litigation or alternate electors?

7 Q Next, | will direct you to exhibit 19 ending in Bates 569.

8 This appears to be a message exchange between you, Mr. Hindle, and Ms. Hanson,

10 National wants to kill goingto the Supreme Court. Doing another call in the a.m. And

12 Did you participate in any discussions where this issue was covered?

13 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

18 that attorneys in the campaign were looking at ways we might have certiorari at SCOTUS.

19 What, in your understanding, changed between that message and this one?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2a Q Next, let's takealook at exhibit 20with Bates ending in 539.

23 and in it, Mr. Law wrote, quote:  SCOTUS filingeither canceled or delayed. | think
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1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Do you knowwhat Mr. Law meant when he said that delayed was, quote,

3 likely?

4 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

5 Q When Mr. Law wrote that delay was likely, quote, "to get past tomorrow," in

6 your understanding, was he referring to the elector ceremony on December 14th?

7 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

8 Q  Inyour understanding, was the purposeof a delay to ensure that litigation

9 was still pending when the elector ceremony happened?

10 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

u Q And, in thismessage,Mr. Law wrotethatthe filingwas either canceled or

12 delayed.

13 Do you know what decision was made between those two options?

1a A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

5 Q And did you ultimately file a petition for certiorari in this litigation?

16 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

uv Q Okay. In that same message from Mr. Law, he wrote, quote: Suddenly

18 mixed messages and direction on publicity for tomorrow. Not pleased that was raised

19 on the call and not with me beforehand. Upset chairman.

20 Who was delivering mixed messages on publicity, and what were those mixed

21 messages?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

23 Q In your understanding, Mr. DeGraffenreid, what were the concerns related

24 to publicizing the alternateelectorsceremony?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.
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1 Q So, next, I will direct your attention to exhibit 21 with Bates ending in 810.

2 This is a December 13, 2020, email from Ms. Hanson to a number of individuals,

3 including Mr. McDonald and you, containing an invitation to edit a document titled

4 “Elector Voting Talking Points."

5 The attachment that's linked here is contained on the next page of this exhibit and

6 appears to contain those talking points. I'm only going to cover just a few of them.

7 Let's start with the fourth bullet, which reads, quote: No court of law

8 meaningfully heard ourevidence or allowed us to fully plead our case. No one reviewed

9 the more than 8,000 pages of evidence.

10 At the time that this document was circulated, what was your understanding of

11 the electors’ intention to file an appeal to the Supreme Court?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

13 Q Why would you refer to this litigation in the past tense if you were stil

14 planning onpursuingfurtherlitigation?

15 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q Next, in what | believe is the eighth bullet in this document, it reads, quote:

17 The cash-for-votes scheme has been turnedoverto the FBI. They have not made any

18 declaration saying this investigation is completed, and as such, Congress should not

19 certifythe electoral votes with ongoing investigations.

0 What, if you know, was the significanceof this statement?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Do you recall any concerns about the wordingof any partofthis statement?

23 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Alright

2 So, next, Il go ahead and move to the ceremony itself.
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1 And who participated, in your knowledge, in the logistics for preparing the

2 alternate electors ceremony that took place in Carson City on December 14th?

3 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

4 Q And who participated in efforts to coordinate messaging or press coverage

5 relating to that event, if you know?

6 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q Did you receive any instructions not to publicize that event?

8 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

9 Q Were members of the Trump administration, Trump campaign, or RNC

10 involved in any of thediscussions that | just asked you about?

1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Let's move to exhibit 24. This is a document ending with Bates 544.

13 And it appears to be a December 13, 2020, exchange between you and Mr.

14 Meehan, and in it Mr. Meehan wrote, quote: We just have to meet is all required,

15 right? In Carson City is only requirement not certain building?  NVSOS not being there

16 dorksituptoo.

7 1 will assume that Mr. Meehan was usinga more colorful word that got

18 auto-corrected there, but if you know, what did he mean when he said that the NVSOS.

19 not being there dorks it up?

0 A On the advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Are you aware of any other discussions that we haven't already covered

22 regarding whether the ceremony could proceed without the Nevada secretary of state?

23 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q  Inalater message further down in this chain, Mr. Meehan wrote, quote:

25 Was pretty pissed off last night on call. Good thing you missed it. J. Law and Amanda
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1 were trying to change the location and say no crowd. | was very clear that we were

2 cleared to precede on our prio call, time/location set.

3 In this message, you referred to a call that happened the night before, which

4 would have been December 12th. Did you participate in that call, Mr. DeGraffenreid?

5 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

s Q Do you know why Mr. Law and Amanda were trying to change the location

7 andsaynocrowd?

5 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

° Q And, if you know, why do you think Mr. Meehan thoughta larger crowd was

10 better?

1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Ata high level, could you describe to me your understanding of what was

13 supposed to take place during the ceremony on December 14th itself? Andbythat |

14 mean speeches, signing ceremony, public statements, things like that.

15 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q Okay. Sollldirect your attention to exhibit 25. This is a document

17 ending with Bates 550.

1 And t's another exchange with Mr. Meehan, and in the top center image, Mr.

19 Meehan wrote, on December 13, 2020, quote: Actual signing 11 a.m. recreate

20 ceremony for public at noon, some speeches, yada yada. RNC essentially put us in a box

21 on what we can say, but doesn't sound too bad.

2 Is it correct that the actual signing of the ballots took place privately followed by a

23 publicevent later that day?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q 1s Mr. Meehan's description consistent with how the ceremony ended up
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1 taking place, as far as you know?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

3 Q Whoin the RNC was coordinating with you on messaging?

a A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

s Q What limitations did they place on the statements that you could make at

6 the ceremony?

7 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

8 Q What did you want to say and what were the RNC's concerns about it?

9 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

10 Q So, later in this exchange, you and Mr. Meehan had kind of a back and forth,

11 and i'm going to read a couple of his messages for efficiency’s sake.

2 So he wrote, quote: Spoke to the chairman. Wantsa smaller group of us for

13 planning at breakfast.

1a And then he wrote, quote: He's stressing on the optics.

15 And then he wrote, quote: Mike, Kevin, you, , Hindle, me to plan out

16 ceremony, outlines speeches.

FY And then, ina later text message, he wrote, quote: He's - referring to Mr.

18 McDonald - He's very concerned RNC will cut cord fit looks bad and steal credit if we do

19 well

1) D0 you know why Mr. McDonald wanted smaller group planning the ceremony

21 thatday?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q And what were Mr. McDonald's concerns about the opticsof the ceremony?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Who were the individuals that Mr. Meehan referenced in this message and
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1 whatwere theirroles in planningthe event?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

3 Q Can you explain Mr. McDonald's concern with respect to the RNC, if you

4 know?

5 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

6 Q And, if you know, what were the RNC's concerns about holding this

7 ceremony, if any?

8 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

9 Q  So,in one of those messages from the lower left-hand image, you responded

10 toMr. Meehan, quote: |know. He's concerned that we look lie foolish crybabies.

11 Have tried to explain.

2 What were Mr. McDonald's concerns about the ceremony that he expressed to

1B you?

14 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

15 Q And what was the substance of your disagreement with his concerns?

16 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q On the lower right image, Mr. Meehan wrote, quote: ~ Attorney Jesse and

18 Amanda said we're clear to announce the same is occurring in al States where votes were

19 stolen. We'rein good company.

0 Were you a partofany discussions relatedto this issue?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Were you originally discouraged from identifying that other States were

23 holding alternate elector ceremonies? And, if so, by whom?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Ifyou know, what was the concern about making public the existence of
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1 those ceremonies in other States?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

4 And, if so, why?

5 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

6 I| hin vic've hit a stopping point, and | know that we've been

7 speaking for about an hour and a half. So perhaps now is a good time to take a brief

9 Mr. Kelesis. Yes, that's good.

10 Mr. Hardy. So what do we need? 10 minutes or so?

12 hour,if that works for you.

13 Mr. Hardy. Yeah, that's fine.

1 |] All right. Great.

15 ‘We will go off the record.

16 [Recess.]
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5 EE ve vit vooon the recor, an he time 343 pm. ease
‘ —|
5 Q Mr. DeGraffenreid, | would like to ask you a few questions about the

6 documents hat were submited 35 part of th alma lector ceremony on
7 December 14th.

8 So my question to you is, | understand that you signed and submitted a number of

9 documents in connection with that ceremony, including a Certificate of President Trump's

10 Electoral Votes in Nevada, as well as individual ballots for President and Vice President.

12 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

13 Q Were the documents that you signed and submitted the versions of the

16 documentsthatyoud received rom Mr. Chesebro?
15 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q Did you make any changes to the documents before using them at the

yu sngeeremony?
18 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

0 Q revo awareof ay discussions as to whether revisions were neces?
20 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

21 Q  Iwould like to direct your attention to exhibit 26 with Bates ending in 637.

2 This another ice of he exchange between you, Mr. Meehan, and Mr Hindle
23 And this particular exchange is dated December 9, 2020. In it Mr. Meehan

24 wroteJson pase 7 of the exhibit, and nt Mr. Meehan wrote, uote: If we
25 make up our own Certificate of Ascertainment, it probably ought to have two whereas
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1 statements and maybe one resolved based on us concluding that we're responding to a

2 fraudulent election and this is why weare justified and submitting this.

3 If you know, why did Mr. Meehan feel that it was important to include this

4 language ina Certificate of Ascertainment?

5 A Under advice of counsel, assert the prior privilege.

6 Q Did you agree that it was important to include this language in a Certificate

7 of Ascertainment? And, if so, why?

5 A Under advice of counsel, assert the prior privilege.

9 Q Are you aware of any discussions about whether this kind of language was

10 necessary in the Certificate of Ascertainment or any of the other documents?

1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Next, would like to turn to exhibit 30. Thisi a piece of an exchange

13 between you and Mr. Law on December 13, 2020, and init, Mr. Law wrote ~ it's at the

14 bottom of the page. Mr. Law, wrote, quote, "Great. Please do once you get those

15 12th amendment adjustments made," after you wrote to him, “I can send you the forms if

16 youwanttoprintall the sets."

FY What were the 12th amendment adjustments that Mr. Law thought needed to be

18 made to the relevant forms?

19 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

0 Q Do you know why those changes were necessary?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q And do you know whether the documents were ever revised accordingly?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q So, later in this exchange, you responded, quote: Shawn - presumably

25 you're referring to Mr. Meehan — pointed out a serious error on the certification, so|
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1 need to modify that form.

2 Whatwas the serious error that Mr. Meehan identifiedon the certification?

3 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

a Q And were the relevant forms ever revised accordingly, if you know?

5 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

s Q Lets turn to exhibit 27, Bates number ending in 470.

7 This is titled "Memorandum," and it looks like it's a letter that's addressed to the

8 President of the Senate, of the United States Senate, the Archivist of the United States,

9 the secretary of state of the State of Nevada, and theChief Judge of the U.S. District Court

10 forthe District of Nevada, dated December 14th.

1 And it containsthe following language, quote: ~ Enclosed please find duplicate

12 originals of Nevada's electoral votes for President and Vice President

13 If you know, ithisthe cover letter that was submitted along with the electoral

14 votes cast by the Nevada Trump electors?

15 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q  Isthis the same version of the letter that you received from Mr. Chesebro, or

17 wasitaltered in any way, if you know?

1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

19 Q And did you have any discussions about revising this document before

0 sendingit?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Okay. Let's goto exhibit 28, with Bates ending in 477.

2 This is a document that s titled "Certificate of the Votes of the 2020 Electors from

24 Nevada," containing six

25 electoral votes for Donald Trump for President.
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1 If you know, is this the certificate that was submitted along with the electoral

2 votes cast by the Nevada Trump electors?

3 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

4 Q  Isthis the same version of the letter that you received from Mr. Chesebro, or

5 didyou revise it in anyway before sending?

6 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q And did you have any discussions about revising this document before

8 sendingit?

° A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

10 Q The first paragraph of this document reads as follows, quote: We, the

11 undersigned, being the dulyelected and qualified electors for President and Vice

12 President of the United States of America from the State of Nevada, do hereby certify the

13 following.

1a In your view, did this certificate purport to show that you and the other alternate

15 electors were thedulyelected and qualified electors from Nevada?

16 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

uv Q Was it your understanding that the purpose of submitting alternate electoral

18 votes for President Trump was a provisional measure pending the outcome of litigation?

19 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

20 Q  Inyour view, is the language in this document consistent with the belief that

21 the electoral ballots were provisional?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

23 Q Did you have any discussions or do you knowofany discussions about

24 altering the language in the certificate to reflect a belief that the electoral votes were

25 meantto be provisional?
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1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Mr. DeGraffenreid, | understand that alternate electors in some States

3 edited the language intheirversions of this document to indicate an understanding that

4 the votes were provisional. And | will read two of those for you.

5 In particular, in New Mexico, electors included the language, quote: We, the

6 undersigned, on the understanding that it might later be determined that we are the duly.

7 elected and qualified electors.

8 And in Pennsylvania, electors included the language quote: ~ We, the

9 undersigned, on the understanding that if as a result ofa final non-appealable court order

10 orother proceeding prescribed by law we are ultimately recognized asbeing the duly

11 elected and qualified electors.

2 Were you aware of any alterations to the language in other States' version of this.

13 document?

1a A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

5 Q Andis there any reason that you felt that it wasn't necessary in your case?

16 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

uv Q  Doyourecall, or are you awareof any discussions about the significance of

18 characterizing the vote as provisional or not?

19 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

20 Q Next, Ill direct your attention to exhibit 29 with Bates number ending in 479.

21 The second page of this document reads, "State of Nevada, then "Nevada

22 Presidential Elector Official Ballotfor President of the United States," and, quote, "I

23 hereby cast my vote forblankfor Presidentof the United States," and then in handwriting

24 appears the name DonaldJ. Trump.

2 Is that your handwriting, Mr. DeGraffenreid?
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1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q  Atthe bottom of this document, there is a signature.

3 Is that your signature, Mr. DeGraffenreid?

4 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

5 Q Isthisthe document that you signed on December 14, 2020, in Carson City,

6 Nevada?

7 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

8 Q Briefly, if you can, | would ask that you describe what took place during the

9 public ceremony that you andother Trump electors held in Carson City on

10 December 14th.

1 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Did you make any statements during that ceremony reflecting a belief that

13 the electoral votes you were casting were provisional?

14 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

15 Q Next let's turn to exhibit 34 with Bates number ending in 813.

16 This is a December 14, 2020, email exchange, and | will describe to you on the

17 screen that it contains a message from the Nevada GOP containing, quote,a statement

18 on the Nevada Republican presidential electors castingelectoral votes for President

19 DonaldJ. Trump and Vice President Michael Pence.

0 And it looks like it is forwarded to a number of individuals, including Mr. Hindle,

21 Ms. Hanson, Mr. McDonald, you, and others.

2 And the bottom, second page ofthis email contains the language from this

23 release.

2 In the third paragraph, it reads, quote: There is a legitimate concern over the

25 rightful victor in theSilverState. A court of law has failed to meaningfully evaluate the
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1 evidence and our law enforcement agencies and government officials have failed to

2 investigate. This left our electors no choice but to sendtheirvotes for President Trump

3 to Congress to make a determination as to whos the rightful victor of Nevada between

4 the dueling votes.

5 What, if any, Mr. DeGraffenreid, was your role in preparing this statement?

6 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q Ifyou know, what did it mean to say thata court of law has, quote, failed to

8 meaningfully evaluate the evidence?

9 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

10 Q The specific language in this statement says that electors have no choice,

11 quote, but to send their votes for President Trump to Congress to make a determination

12 astowho sthe rightfulvictorofNevada.

13 In yourview, is that language consistent with abelief that the electoral votes were

14 provisional?

15 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q Finally, the bottom of this document contains a statement that's attributed

17 toNevada GOP chairman, Mr. McDonald, and it contains the following, quote: ~The

18 people of Nevada did not have a fair election due to the irregularities and fraud seen

19 throughout the State. With ongoing challenges and evidence left to be meaningfully

20 investigated, we must submit our electoral votesforthe rightful victors and allow

21 Congress to make a determination.

2 In your understanding, what were the ongoing challenges and evidence left to be

23 meaningfully investigated that this refers to?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q So, based on the documents that you produced, we understand that Mr.
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1 McDonald mailed the electoral ballots and other materials on the same day as the

2 ceremony, December 14th. Is that correct?

3 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

a Q If you know, what was the significance of sending the ballots on

5 December 14th?

6 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q And, if you know, why didn't Mr. McDonald wait to send the ballots until

8 after the resolutionof any ongoing disputes about Nevada's election outcome?

9 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

10 Q Did you have discussions about this question with anyone from the Trump

11 administration, Trump campaign,or the RNC?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

3 Q Alright. |have just one other quick area that | would like to talk through

14 with you, Mr. DeGraffenreid, so we're close to being finished.

15 We understand that Members of Congress reached out to individuals in the

16 Nevada State Republican Party in order to collect evidence of election fraud in advance of

17 the Joint Session of Congress on January 6, 2021.

1 Is that accurate?

19 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q To your knowledge, who specifically which Members of Congress reached

21 out seeking information?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q What, if anything, did they say about how they intended to use the

24 information they were seeking from you?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.
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1 Q What, if anything, did they say about what they intended to do during the.

2 Joint Session of Congresson January 6th?

3 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

4 Q And, as far as you know, what information did you or others in Nevada

5 provide to them in response to those requests?

6 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

7 Q Did you have any other contacts with Members of Congress, members of the

8 Trump White House, the Trump campaign, or the RNC regarding the Joint Session?

° A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

10 Q Next, let's turn to exhibit 37, which is a Bates number ending in 544.

u This looks like a message exchange between you and Mr. Meehan, dated

12 December 18, 2020, and in it, you wrote, quote, Andy Biggs, who signed on to the letter,

13 has reached out to NV toask about our evidence.

1a What evidence was Representative Biggs seeking from you?

15 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

16 Q And did youor anyone else provide him with information, asfaras you

17 know?

18 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

19 Q To your knowledge, did any other House Member reach out to people in

20 Nevada related to evidence of election fraud?

2 A On the advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

2 Q Let's goto exhibit 38 with Bates ending in 579.

23 This is a December 20, 2020, exchange between you, Mr. McDonald, and Jolette

24 Gowens, and it looks like you sent the others a press release from Representative Brooks

25 office, and you said, quote: Can't remember if sent y'all this or not, but it's likely that
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1 thisis what was behind the phone call from AZ
2 Is the phone call that you reference in this message the same o different than
3 what you referred to from Mr. Biggs earlier?
a A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.
s Q In another message you wrote, quote: Sounds liketheyre doing their
6 homeworkin advance ofJanuary 6th.
7 What do you meanby that?
8 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.
5 Q Next let's move to exhibit 39 with Bates ending in 564.

10 This looks like a December 29, 2020, text message exchange between you and
11 Janet Freixas, although Im certain that | have just mispronounced that ast name. And
12 init, she writes, quote: | know | am grasping at straws here and | know itis in your
13 arsenal just want to make sure t did't slp out), has anyone put anything on record that
14 the Democrats ballots were filed inappropriately?
15 And then you responded, quote: believe that's til a day-of objection by
16 Congress. Ithas been shared with the objectors
w Who were the objectors that you were referring to in this message?
1 Mr. Hardy. Your audio is cutting out. Your audio just cut out
1 I.oo. that. Canyou hear us now?
20 Mr. Kelesis, Ves.
2 wr. Hardy, Try it againJJ

wove one second.
5 How about now?
2 Mr. Hardy. Thereyougo.
2 I cn cee
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1 Well, ll repeat my question just so Mr. DeGraffenreid knows what | was referring
:

; oI
a Q Sol was asking specifically about his message in which he wrote: |believe
5 that's stil a day-of objection by Congress. It has been shared with the objectors.
. And my question was who the objectors were that you were referring to in this
7 message?
s A On adviceof counsel, assert the prior privilege.
5 Q Other than the individuals that we've discussed, are you aware of any
10 Members of Congress or ther staff communicating with you or others in Nevada in
11 advance ofthe January th joint session?
2 A On advice of counsel, assert the prior privilege.
13 I /icv so! don't have any further substantive questions,
14 although do have a few final questions to wrap up.
15 gefore |do,JIius et meknow if you have anything

«HIE
ov EEE ve

1 Q So, Mr. DeGraffenreid, i there anyone we should talk to in order to learn
20 more about the issues that we've discussed today?
n A On advice of counsel, assert th prior privilege.
2 Q Alright
5 Are there other sources of information that would be helpful for us to collect?
2 A On advice of counsel, assert th prior privilege.
2 Q And are there any issues that we haven't discussed that youthink are
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1 relevantforusto pursue?

2 A On advice of counsel, | assert the prior privilege.

3 IE hankyou, Mr. OcGraffenreid
a That concludes all the questions that | have for you today.

5 And, before we go off the record, | will thank you for your time.

6 By way of explanation, what we will do from here s that this executive session of

7 the select committee will go into recess. And what that means is, while the select

8 committee does not have any plans to reach out to you or speak with you further after

9 our discussion today, that stil allows us to continue to speak with you in the event that

10 we have additional questions we need to ask or if your position on invoking your Fifth

11 Amendment privileges should change at any time.

2 Does that make sense?

13 Mr. Hardy. Yes

1a The Witness. | understand.

15 ME. A right. Again, I'l thank you so much for your time. tis 4:09

16 p.m.eastern,andwecango offtherecord.

FY [Whereupon, at 4:09 p.m, the deposition was recessed, subject to call of the.

18 chair]
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